2017

Thomas G. Martin, M.D., Plaintiff-Appellant, v. the University of Utah; the University of Utah College of Pharmacy; the Utah Poison Control Center; Barbara Crouch; In Her Official and Individual Capacities; Diana Brixner, In Her Official and Individual Capacities; Erik Barton, In His Official and Individual Capacities; Stephen Hartsell, In His Individual and Official Capacities; Samuel Finlayson, In His Official and Individual Capacities; Heidi Thompson, In Her Official and Individual Capacities; Paula Peacock, In Her Official and Individual Capacities, and Does 1-10, In Their Official and Individual Capacities. Defendants-Appellees :

INTRODUCTION

This appeal is filed by Thomas G. Martin, M.D. (“Dr. Martin” or “Appellant”), due to the early termination of his employment and revocation of his medical privileges, while employed at the University of Utah. In August of 2013, Dr. Martin entered into his first contract with the Department of Pharmacotherapy to act as the full-time Medical Director at the Utah Poison Control Center (the “UPCC”), which started on October 1, of 2013, and where he performed those duties for eight (8) months. R. at 00043 – 00047. In February of 2014, Dr. Martin entered into a second contract relating to a “split position with [his] primary appointment in the Division of Emergency Medicine, Department of Surgery, to start July 1, 2014[,]” through June 30, of 2015. R. 00051 – 00053. Dr. Martin’s second contract was rescinded unexpectedly in May of 2014. R. at 00312. At the same time, the Chief of the Division of Emergency Medicine, Dr. Barton (who had spearheaded the idea of having a split position for the Medical Director at the UPCC) announced that he would be leaving. R. at 02318, 02425, and 02648. Dr. Barton was asked to make any reductions in the budget of the Division of Emergency Medicine before he left in June of 2014. R. at 02433. There were concerns regarding funding to pay for Dr. Martin when he transitioned and whether the clinical shifts would be available. R. at 02374, and 02390. The University of Utah and its individual employees’ (the “University” or “Defendants/Appellees”) actions caused harm and unfair surprise to Dr. Martin.

Thereafter, Dr. Martin proceeded with litigation against the University, where ultimately at the state court level, the trial court denied Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability and erroneously granted the University’s Cross-Motion for

Summary Judgment, as reflected in the Honorable Andrew H. Stone's Memorandum Decision of September 26, 2017 ("Memorandum Decision"), and subsequent Order entered on November 17, 2017 ("Final Order"). R. at 03135 – 03145.¹

The trial court's ruling should be reversed because in granting the University's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court: 1. Failed to follow the standards required under Utah R. Civ. P. Rule 56(c), when there were disputed issues over material facts and those facts or reasonable inferences were not viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, Dr. Martin (R. at 03136 – 03143); 2. Despite the heavily disputed and conflicting material facts in the record, the trial court made improper factual determinations regarding the material terms of the contracts in favor of the University, and did not address the lack of good faith or fair dealing claim as a result (R. 03137 – 03144); and, 3. Finally, the trial court improperly weighed and only considered the University's claims (that were not raised until after the termination had occurred) that University staff had made an "error" in issuing clinical privileges and active medical staff appointment to Dr. Martin, (R. at 03136 – 03144), and which Dr. Martin wholeheartedly disputed as the active medical appointment with inpatient privileges was a requirement of his first signed contract letter from August 15, 2013 (R. at 00046), not to mention a fundamental

¹ See the Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants' Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, (the "Final Order") entered on November 17, 2017, by the trial court, and attached hereto in the Addendum. The Final Order was not entered by the trial court until after this Court filed a Sua Sponte Motion for Summary Disposition. The University's counsel had not previously submitted a proposed order as requested by the trial court that was consistent with its Memorandum Decision. After Dr. Martin submitted a response with the Final Order attached, this Court permitted briefing to continue.

requirement of the UPPC, to remain an accredited poison control center with the American Association of Poison Control Centers (“AAPCC”). R. at 02960 – 02962. Although the record reflects that the University’s actions caused unfair surprise and extreme harm to Dr. Martin, the trial court supported the University’s unilateral rescission of the second employment offer (deeming it was not even a contract) without any due process to Dr. Martin. R. at 03138 – 03142. The trial court incorrectly made a determination that Dr. Martin had no vested interest or property interest in the clinical privileges or medical staff appointment given to him the year before (despite referring to the contested position of both parties)(R. 03140), and ignored the material facts in the record, or the Policy and Bylaw provisions referenced by Dr. Martin, and failed to grant all reasonable inferences in favor of Dr. Martin as the non-moving party. R. at 03140 – 03141.

As a result, Dr. Martin respectfully asks that this Court reverse the trial court and remand the case back with instructions permitting Dr. Martin to proceed forward to trial.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

FIRST ISSUE: Whether the trial court’s Memorandum Decision and Final Order, should be reversed and remanded, where the trial court failed to apply the correct standard in granting the University’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment despite genuine disputes over material facts and without considering all the facts or reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to Dr. Martin?

Standard of Review: The standard of review for a dismissal under Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c) is correctness, and an appellate court: “[R]eviews a trial court’s ‘legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment’ *for correctness, id.*, and views ‘the

facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.”² A summary judgment movant *must show both* that there is no material issue of fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).³ “Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(c)”⁴

Preservation: This issue was preserved in Dr. Martin’s Joint Reply Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability against the University and Opposition Memorandum to the University’s Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 02959 – 03034, at 02947 – 02948, 02957), the University’s Joint Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 01760 – 01852, at 01817-01819) , and at oral argument (R. 03190 - 03250, at 03208, and 03231-03235).

SECOND ISSUE: Whether the trial court’s Memorandum Decision and Final Order, should be reversed and remanded, where the trial court improperly weighed conflicting facts in favor of the University, to determine that a contract did not culminate from the December 2013 signed acceptance letter between the University and Dr. Martin, and that Dr. Martin’s actions “failed to fulfill the fundamental conditions of the offer”

² See *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 10 (emphasis added); see also *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993)(overruled on other grounds by *Scott v. Universal Sales, Inc.*, 2015 UT 64).

³ See *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 10 (emphasis added); see also *Martin v. Lauder*, 2010 UT App 216, ¶ 4 (internal citations omitted).

⁴ See *Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Lowry*, 2012 UT 39, ¶ 9 (emphasis added).

sufficient to warrant the unilateral rescission of the second employment contract by the University?

Standard of Review: The standard of review is correctness, and the appellate court reviews: “[A] district court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment *for correctness*.”⁵ In *Arata v. Shefco, Ltd.*, 2014 UT App 148, this Court further held as follows: “A condition is ‘an event, not certain to occur, which must occur ... before performance under a contract becomes due.’ ” Because “no duties arise between the contracting parties until the condition has been fulfilled,”[], failure of “ ‘a material condition precedent relieves the obligor of any duty to perform,’” ... *Whether a condition precedent was fulfilled generally presents a question of fact.*”⁶

Preservation: This issue was preserved in Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability against the University (R. 00166 - 00323, at 00171 – 00175, 00186 - 00189), the University’s Joint Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 01760 – 01852, at 01843-01847) , and at oral argument (R. 03190 - 03250, at 03209 - 03212).

THIRD ISSUE: Whether the trial court’s Memorandum Decision and Final Order, should be reversed and remanded, where the trial court held that Utah Courts do not recognize a physician’s constitutionally protected property interest right relative to employment or medical staff privileges, but even if recognized, that Dr. Martin suffered no

⁵ See *Arata v. Shefco, Ltd.*, 2014 UT App 148, ¶ 6 (internal citations omitted)(emphasis added).

⁶ See *Id.* at ¶ 8(internal citations omitted)(emphasis added); See also *McArthur v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 2012 UT 22.

procedural due process violation in this case because “the defense maintains that this letter [granting Dr. Martin active medical staff privileges] was issued in error” and the University’s unilateral mistake (and that was only raised after Dr. Martin had been actually acting as the Medical Director for eight months at the UPCC) apparently justified rescission of the contract, despite the unfair harm to Dr. Martin?

Standard of Review: The standard of review is both correctness and a clearly erroneous standard. “Constitutional issues, including questions regarding due process, are questions of law that we review *for correctness*... However, because [these questions require] the application of facts in the record to the due process standard, we *incorporate a clearly erroneous standard for the necessary subsidiary factual determinations*.”. ... Procedural due process claims are evaluated under a two-part test. The first question is “whether the [complaining party] has been deprived of a protected interest” in property or liberty. ... If the court finds deprivation of a protected interest, we consider whether the procedures at issue comply with due process. *Id.*”⁷

Preservation: This issue was preserved in the Memorandum Decision (R. 03135 – 03145, at 03136, 03140 - 03141), Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability against the University (R. 00166 - 00323, at 00183 – 00186), the University’s Joint Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Dr. Martin’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 01760 – 01852, at 01820-01840), Dr. Martin’s Joint Reply Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability

⁷ See *Salt Lake City Corp. v. Jordan River Restoration Network*, 2012 UT 84, at ¶¶ 47-48 (internal citations omitted)(emphasis added).

against the University and Opposition Memorandum to the University’s Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 02918 – 02958, at 02934 – 02935, 02948 – 02954), and at oral argument (R. 03190 - 03250, at 03193 - 03208).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Relevant Facts

1. Dr. Martin is a physician Board Certified in Emergency Medicine and Preventative Medicine (Occupational) and Medical Toxicology. In addition, Dr. Martin has been recognized by the American College of Emergency Physicians for thirty (30) years of continuous Board Certification. R. at 00006.

2. On August 2, 2013, Dr. Martin was offered the position of the Medical Director for the UPCC, with a faculty appointment in the College of Pharmacy at the rank of Associate Professor (Clinical), at the University of Utah. R. at 00043. The position was anticipated to “***transition to a split position*** with your primary academic appointment in the Division of Emergency Medicine, Department of Surgery, to start July 1, 2014.” *See Id.* (emphasis added). The proposed start date was October 1, 2013. R. at 00043 – 44; *See also* Memorandum Decision, R. 03135 – 03145, at 03135 – 03136.⁸

⁸ Dr. Martin recognizes that pursuant to *State v. Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, he is not required to marshal every scrap of evidence to support the trial court’s specific factual determinations that he is challenging herein, but rather, for persuasive purpose, Dr. Martin is providing facts as well as inferences, that were favorable to him but that the trial court did not include or misstated. Dr. Martin is aware that the Supreme Court of Utah has: “repudiate[d] the default notion of marshaling sometimes put forward in our cases and reaffirm[ed] the traditional principle of marshaling as a natural extension of an appellant’s burden of persuasion.” *See State v. Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, ¶ 41. In addition, Dr. Martin is also aware that under the Advisory Committee Notes on the 2017 Amendments to Rule 24, it states as follows: “Paragraph (a)(8). The 2017 amendments remove the reference to

3. The “split position” was unusual, (R. at 02419), and had never been done before at the University to Ms. Thompson’s knowledge (R. at 03047); however, it was an idea spearheaded by the then Chief of the Emergency Medicine Division, Dr. Erik Barton, as he, along with Dr. Barbara Crouch, wanted the Department of Pharmacotherapy and the UPCC to have a toxicology fellowship program jointly with the Department of Surgery. R. 02413 - 02414.

4. On August 15, 2013, Dr. Martin received an updated letter for the same position. R. 00046 – 00047, and 03136. It had additional language, including that Dr. Martin had to obtain a license to practice medicine in the State of Utah “**and a medical staff appointment** at University Hospitals & Clinics.” R. at 00046 (emphasis added).

5. It was necessary that Dr. Martin obtain his clinical privileges and a medical staff appointment at the University Hospital & Clinics because, (and as Dr. Martin asserted in his Declaration), the UPCC is an accredited poison center with the AAPCC, and to maintain accreditation it is required that: “The Medical Director and all other individuals designated as providers of medical direction **must** have medical staff appointments at an inpatient treatment facility”.[] R. at 02961. Furthermore, it is an AAPCC requirement that any Medical Director must be a practicing physician. R. at 01960.

6. Dr. Martin accepted the offer in August of 2013. R at 03136.

7. Thereafter, upon reliance of the signed offer and without knowledge of prior

marshaling. *State v. Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, 326 P.3d 645, holds that the failure to marshal is not a technical deficiency resulting in default, but is a manner in which an appellant may carry its burden of persuasion when challenging a finding or verdict.” *See* Rules App. Proc., Rule 24, Editors’ Notes.

discussions between Dr. Brixner and Dr. Crouch of the “temporary” nature of the position, Dr. Martin relocated from Seattle where he bought a condominium in Salt Lake City, and obtained his medical licenses in the State of Utah on September 6, 2013. R. at 00008.

8. In September of 2014, Dr. Barton, informed Dr. Martin that the credentialing process for the Department of Surgery, Division of Emergency Medicine, would take “four to six months” to complete and that “[Rebecca] Bryce in the Division of Emergency Medicine would contact him about the application for an appointment in the Department of Surgery and for clinical privileges.[] R. at 01802.

9. The record reflects that during the various application processes (of which there were at least four (4) different full applications) that would proceed over the following months , that Dr. Martin responded to over one hundred (100) e-mail exchanges in an effort to be responsive. R. at 02510.

10. On October 1, 2013, Dr. Martin started as the full-time Medical Director at the UPCC. R. at 00008.

11. On October 9, 2013, Dr. Martin’s credentialing application for his role as the Medical Director was approved by the University’s Credentialing Committee. R. at 00008.

12. On October 16, 2013, a full copy of Dr. Martin’s application for credentialing with the Department of Pharmacotherapy was sent to Rebecca Bryce, an Administrative Assistant in the Division of Emergency Medicine, by Jeffrey Carter (with the exact same three letters of reference that would be sought by Ms. Bryce a few months later). R. at 00008 – 00009.

13. On November 12, 2013, *the President of the University of Utah*, issued a

letter to Dr. Martin, advising him that, “*the University’s Board of Trustees has approved* your appointment in the full-time clinical track as Associate Professor (Clinical) of Pharmacotherapy, effective October 1, 2013 and ending June 30, 2014.” R. at 00009.

14. On November 19, 2013, Dr. Martin received a letter from Ms. Heidi Thompson, the Manager of Medical Staff services, confirming that his application for privileges at the University of Utah Hospitals and Clinics had been approved. It was documented that: “Your reappointment/appoint is for the period: **10/02/2013 to 10/01/2015**” and the “Category: **Active** Status: **Provisional** Division: **Emergency Medicine** Department: **SURGERY**”. R. at 00049.

15. During her deposition, the Rule 30(b)(6) University representative, Ms. Lisa Hooper, who is the present Manager of the Medical Staff Offices and Business Operations Manager, testified that after November 19, 2013, when Dr. Martin received that letter of appointment to the UUHC, that the medical Bylaws applied to him. R. at 02835 – 02836. Ms. Hooper also agreed that under the provision in subsection 5.D.5, of the Bylaws, at page 52, it does not contemplate a circumstance where for some reason the applicant would be given clinical privileges before the faculty appointment. R. at 02886.

16. In December of 2013, Dr. Martin was offered the second, or “split” position on the faculty in the Division of Emergency Medicine, Department of Surgery at the University of Utah, within the School of Medicine. Dr. Martin’s appointment offer was as an Associate Professor and Medical Director of the Utah Poison Control Center, in the Clinical Track beginning July 1, 2014. The second offer letter stated in pertinent part, certain instructions and guidelines:

You need a confirmed academic appointment through the School of Medicine and medical credentialing approval through University Hospital. ***We will send you instructions regarding your responsibility in obtaining the necessary documents for your academic appointment;*** Utah medical license; DEA license, and medical credentialing that must be completed according to the timeline set by the department. ... Your initial salary will be \$252,000 plus benefits ... ***This salary is guaranteed for the first twelve months after which you will be included in the Division of Emergency Medicine Faculty Performance Incentive Plan beginning July 2015.*** ... As a clinical faculty member in the Clinical Track ***you will be asked to fulfill a minimum of 48 clinical shifts per year (average 4 shifts per month) in the emergency department with the remainder of your responsibilities as Medical Director*** of the Utah Poison Control Center.

R. at 00051 – 00053.

17. Dr. Martin accepted the second offer on February 26, 2014. *See Id.*

18. Based on the prior representations by Dr. Barton, the anticipated completion date for the hiring process on the second position was between April and June of 2014. R. at 01802.

19. Also, the deposition testimony of Ms. Hooper reflected that there should have been a separate set of instructions issued from either the Department of Surgery or the Division of Emergency Medicine to Dr. Martin regarding his second faculty appointment application, with a letter that explained the timelines, and the separate nature of the departments and that they could not share information. R. at 02839 – 02840.

20. On January 21, 2014, Dr. Martin received an e-mail from Ms. Bryce (who already had his full faculty appointment from October with the same three letters of reference), asking about 2 references, which he responded to, and then he received another e-mail near the end of February from Ms. Peacock, with follow-up on March 28, and April 4, 2014, and their e-mails addressed different things regarding his letters of reference. R.

at 00011 - 00012. None of those e-mails sent provided a timeline for when Dr. Martin's second faculty application was due. *See Id.*

21. During the early months of 2014, Dr. Martin had at least twenty-six (26) mutual e-mail exchanges, with four (4) or five (5) additional text messages also sent to Dr. Townes by Dr. Martin regarding the reference letter needing to be on letterhead. R. at 00012.

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