2017

**Thomas D. Martin, M.D., Plaintiff-Appellant, v. University of Utah,
et al., Defendants-Appellees : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

(district court expressly “reserv[ing] ruling on whether Plaintiff’s Fifth Cause of Action is dismissed with or without prejudice at this time”).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal because Martin’s premature notice of appeal is untimely and deprives this Court of jurisdiction.

Martin has waived several claims by not briefing them: the federal due process claim; the negligence claim; and the claim for injunctive relief.

Martin’s contract claim fails because the undisputed evidence showed that the University fulfilled all of its obligations under the two offer letters and the University’s Bylaws. Martin’s annual contract with the College of Pharmacy was not renewed, and expired under its own terms; Martin was employed through the duration of the contract and received all that he bargained for. Martin failed to timely complete his application process to obtain a School Medicine faculty appointment. Given Martin’s failure, he was not entitled to have his incomplete application accepted or to receive a faculty appointment with the School of Medicine. And the University fulfilled all of its obligations under the Bylaws; Martin never qualified to received medical staff privileges because he did not obtain the required School of

Medicine faculty appointment; though the privileges were mistakenly granted to him due to an error, the privileges were subject to automatic relinquishment without a hearing because Martin never obtained the School of Medicine faculty appointment.

Martin's state due process claim fails because his medical privileges were subject to automatic relinquishment without a hearing, and the University fulfilled all of its obligations under the offer letters, so Martin was not deprived of any property or liberty interest.

ARGUMENT

I. Martin's premature notice of appeal is untimely and deprives this Court of jurisdiction.

This appeal should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Martin's notice of appeal was untimely because he prematurely filed it before final judgment was entered. The notice of appeal was filed on October 24, 2017. R. 3146-47. Therein Martin appealed the September 26, 2017 memorandum decision. *Id.* But this decision was a non-final, interlocutory order that did not dispose of all claims. The memorandum decision granted summary judgment to the University Defendants on *most* of the claims, denied Martin's motion for summary judgment in its entirety, and *expressly did not rule* on Martin's fifth

cause of action (the negligence claim): “While the defense has moved for summary judgment in the entirety, the Court could not locate any legal argument on the plaintiff’s Fifth Cause of Action. Therefore, while denying the plaintiff’s Motion [for Summary Judgment on Liability], the Court *cannot grant* the defendants’ Motion on this cause of action.” R. 3144 (emphasis added).

Thus, the September order was an interlocutory order that expressly did not resolve *all* of the issues between the parties. *See Bradbury v. Valencia*, 2000 UT 50, ¶ 9, 5 P.3d 649 (stating that for an order or judgment to be final, it “must dispose of the case as to all parties, and finally dispose of the subject-matter litigation on the merits of the case”) (citation and quotations omitted). The district court instructed the University Defendants’ counsel to prepare an order consistent with the memorandum decision – in other words, counsel was to prepare an interlocutory order memorializing the court’s interlocutory decision. *Id.* The court did not instruct the University Defendants to prepare a final judgment. The University Defendants did not submit a proposed order within fourteen days, and Martin did not submit a proposed order either, as he could have done under Utah R. Civ. P. 7(j)(2) (“If the party directed to prepare a proposed order fails to timely serve the order, any other party may prepare a proposed order confirming the court’s decision

and serve the proposed order on the other parties for review and approval as to form.”).

Instead of seeking a resolution of the outstanding claim, Martin then filed a notice of appeal on October 24, 2017, purporting to appeal “the entire Memorandum Decision denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability and granting the Defendants’ Cross Motion for Summary Judgment, entered by the Honorable Andrew H. Stone on September 26, 2017.” R. 3146-47.

But this notice of appeal was premature. As the Utah Supreme Court recently reiterated, “[t]o be timely, a notice of appeal cannot be filed too late, but it also *cannot be filed too early*.” *Garver v. Rosenberg*, 2014 UT 42, ¶ 10, 347 P.3d 380 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court observed that a premature notice of appeal will relate forward in *only one* circumstance, outlined in Utah R. App. P. 4(c): “only when the notice is filed between the announcement of the judgment and the entry of the judgment.” 2014 UT 42, ¶ 11, n.19 (disavowing, based on new version of Rule 4(c), statements in prior cases that premature notice of appeal was merely an irregularity that would be grounds for dismissal within the court’s discretion). In all other circumstances, a premature notice of appeal will not relate forward. *Id.*

Thus, if a notice of appeal “is filed before the judgment is even announced, it is considered a nullity.” *Id.* Martin’s notice of appeal was filed before judgment was announced. The September memorandum decision expressly reserved ruling on one claim and therefore cannot be construed as an announcement of judgment. *See* R. 3144 (“the Court cannot grant the defendants’ Motion on this cause of action”). Martin’s notice of appeal was therefore premature under *Garver* and considered a nullity that did “not divest the district court of jurisdiction over the case.” *Garver*, 2014 UT 42, ¶ 10, n.17 (observing that “[f]ederal courts, under a nearly identical federal rule of appellate procedure, have concluded that a premature notice of appeal does not divest the district court of jurisdiction over the case”) (citing *Riggs v. Scrivner, Inc.*, 927 F.2d 1146, 1148 (10th Cir. 1991)).

After Martin filed his premature notice of appeal, this Court issued a sua sponte motion for summary disposition. *See* Order dated November 15, 2017. This Court noted its concern with the language in the September memorandum decision that reserved ruling on the one remaining claim. *Id.* Apparently because Martin desired to proceed with this appeal by obtaining a final order adjudicating all claims, Martin then offered to stipulate to the dismissal with prejudice of the outstanding claim. This outstanding claim, the fifth cause of action, had been the subject of the University Defendants’

previous motion to dismiss. R. 327-49; 808-21. The district court had concluded that the University Defendants' motion to dismiss the fifth cause of action was well taken and warranted dismissal of the claim, but expressly "reserve[d] ruling on whether Plaintiff's Fifth Cause of Action is dismissed with or without prejudice." R. 882. Thus, the issue was left outstanding. And the issue remained outstanding when the district court entered its September memorandum decision declining to grant summary judgment on that cause of action.

Instead of pursuing a dismissal without prejudice, which would have allowed Martin to amend his complaint and further litigate the fifth cause of action, Martin offered to stipulate to a dismissal with prejudice. Consistent with that informal stipulation between the parties, the University Defendants prepared a proposed order that not only formalized the ruling of the September memorandum decision, but went beyond that to completely resolve all claims, including the fifth cause of action: "The court further orders that based on its prior May 22, 2017 order, Plaintiff's fifth cause of action is dismissed with prejudice." R. 3164. But for Martin's stipulation, the proposed order would have mirrored the memorandum decision's treatment of the fifth cause of action, leaving the claim unresolved. The

proposed order was signed by the court and duly entered on the docket on November 17, 2017. R. 3163-65.

The November 17 order was the first and only time that *all claims* were definitively and finally resolved. The parties' informal stipulation, and inclusion in the final order of the fifth cause of action, does not change the plain language of the September memorandum decision that expressly withheld ruling on that cause of action. It was still an interlocutory order requesting counsel to prepare another interlocutory order, even though the order that was eventually prepared disposed of more claims than the September order did. And Martin did not question the district court's jurisdiction to enter judgment in November; if his notice of appeal had not been a nullity, the district court would have been divested of jurisdiction. *See Garver*, 2014 UT 42, ¶ 10, n.17 (noting that only a "timely" notice of appeal "divests the trial court of further jurisdiction over the matter") (citations and quotations marks omitted).

The November 17 order was the first event that could have been considered an announcement of a complete resolution of the case. Thus, it was the first event that could have triggered the time period in Utah R. App. P. 4(c). But the November 17 order was not merely an announcement of

judgment, it was the actual judgment⁴ that resolved all of the claims for the first time. So a Rule 4(c) time period never existed in this case. The only circumstance that could have saved Martin's premature appeal is not present here. Because the notice of appeal was prematurely filed before judgment was entered, and because Rule 4(c) is inapplicable, the notice of appeal is a nullity, and this Court lacks jurisdiction over the appeal. *Garver*, 2014 UT 42, ¶ 11, n.19.

This Court's order of December 4, 2017, withdrawing its sua sponte motion for summary disposition, and commenting on Rule 4(c), is not a bar to this Court's consideration of this jurisdictional question. *See* Order of December 4, 2017. In that order, which was entered by one judge, the

⁴ Martin stipulates that the November order is the final order in this case. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 20. And the order meets the separate document requirement in Utah R. Civ. P. 58A because it substantially omits recitation of facts, procedural history, and the reasoning of the court, and it contains ordering clauses stating the relief to which the prevailing party is entitled. *See* 2015 Advisory Committee Notes to Utah R. Civ. P. 58A. But even if the November order does not meet the separate document requirements of Utah R. Civ. P. 58A, judgment would have been deemed entered 150 days from that order, April 16, 2018. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 58A(e)(2)(B) (if separate document is required, judgment is complete when "150 days runs from the clerk recording the decision, however designated, that provides the basis for the entry of judgment"). Martin's time to appeal would therefore have run thirty days later, on May 16, 2018. The University alerted this Court and Martin of the jurisdictional defect in his notice of appeal in its response to the sua sponte motion for summary disposition when there was still time to correct the deficiency by filing a new notice of appeal after final judgment entered. Nevertheless, Martin proceeded at his own peril by not filing a new notice of appeal.

comment about Rule 4(c) was based on a misunderstanding of the September order. This Court misconstrued the September interlocutory order as an announcement of judgment and incorrectly noted that the November order merely clarified that all claims were dismissed with prejudice. *Id.* That is an incorrect statement of the procedural history of the case below. The September order expressly left one claim outstanding, a fact noted in this Court’s sua sponte motion for summary disposition (*see* Order of November 15, 2017), but overlooked in this Court’s order withdrawing the motion. Because this issue presents an important question of this Court’s subject matter jurisdiction (which can be raised at any time), and because Utah R. App. P. 23 provides that “[t]he action of a single justice or judge may be reviewed by the court,” the University Defendants ask this Court to consider, or reconsider, this important jurisdictional question with a correct understanding of the September order’s interlocutory nature. *See Matter of Adoption of B.B.*, 2017 UT 59, ¶ 33, 417 P.3d 1 (“parties can raise subject matter jurisdiction at *any time* during a proceeding”) (emphasis added). And because the September order was interlocutory and not an announcement of the complete resolution of the case, Rule 4(c) does not render timely Martin’s premature notice of appeal, as explained above.

Accordingly, this appeal should be dismissed with prejudice for lack of jurisdiction.

II. Waiver and abandonment.

Martin has abandoned several of his causes of action and waived any claim of error regarding their dismissal by not briefing them in his principal brief. *See State v. Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 16 (issue not raised in principal brief is waived, even if raised in reply brief). Martin's argument is divided into three sections. In the first section, Martin asserts that the district court overlooked factual disputes but fails to identify which causes of action were improperly decided as a result. In the second section, Martin makes arguments regarding only his contract claims (third and fourth causes of action). In the third section, Martin makes arguments regarding only his state due process claim (first cause of action).

Martin makes no arguments regarding the other causes of action, as discussed below, and therefore has waived any claim of error as to the dismissal of those causes of action.

A. Qualified immunity on federal due process claim

Martin does not address the district court's qualified immunity ruling on the federal due process claim (the second cause of action). He obliquely references the claim in the final sentence of his third argument. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 32. But he includes no analysis of the qualified immunity standard and does not challenge the district court's analysis and conclusions under that standard. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 29-32. Specifically, Martin fails to address his two-part burden to show that the University Defendants violated a constitutional right and that the right was clearly established. *See Riggins v. Goodman*, 572 F.3d 1101, 1107 (10th Cir. 2009) (once qualified immunity is asserted at summary judgment, burden shifts to plaintiff, who "must demonstrate on the facts alleged both that the defendant violated his constitutional or statutory rights, and that the right was clearly established"). He likewise fails to include any argument making clear exactly *who* is alleged to have done *what* to *whom*. *See A.M. v. Holmes*, 830 F.3d 1123, 1163 (10th Cir. 2016) ("to defeat a claim of qualified immunity, a plaintiff must present evidence of a violation traceable to a defendant-officials' own individual actions") (citation and quotation marks omitted); *Tonkovich v. Kansas Bd. of Regents*, 159 F.3d 504, 517 (10th Cir. 1998) ("A plaintiff must do more than identify in the abstract a clearly established

right and allege that the defendant has violated it. A plaintiff must articulate the clearly established constitutional right and the defendant's conduct which violated the right with specificity.”) (internal citations and quotations omitted). Thus, any claim of error against the district court for dismissing of the federal due process claim has been waived and abandoned on appeal and this Court should affirm the district court's grant of summary judgment on Martin's second cause of action.

B. Negligence claim

Martin does not address the district court's dismissal of the negligence claim (the fifth cause of action). Martin fails to state this Court's standard of review for reviewing a motion to dismiss, nor engage in any analysis of that standard, and he does not make any claim of error against the district court's May 22, 2017 order granting the University Defendants' motion to dismiss the negligence claim. *See Gregory v. Shurtleff*, 2013 UT 18, ¶ 8, 299 P.3d 1098 (standard of review for grant of motion to dismiss). Nor does Martin challenge the immunity arguments the University Defendants made in support of their motion to dismiss. *See* R. 345-46, 818-20 (arguing that multiple provisions of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code §§ 63G-7-101 to -904, bar the negligence claim). Thus, Martin has waived and

abandoned any claim of error regarding this claim, and this Court should affirm the district court's dismissal of the fifth cause of action.

C. Claim for injunctive relief

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